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OPINION

Background

This appeal derives from a custody and visitation dispute between Mr. Justice and 
Ms. Nelson over their son Noah Nelson.  After the Juvenile Court awarded Ms. Nelson 
custody of their son and restricted Mr. Justice’s co-parenting time, Mr. Justice filed a 
complaint against Ms. Nelson and her attorneys in the Trial Court on August 10, 2017. Mr. 
Justice made claims against Ms. Nelson; David Valone and the Law Office of David 
Valone (“Valone Defendants”); Martha Meares, Paul Dillard, Meares and Dillard, and/or 
Meares and Associates (“Meares Defendants”); and other “un-named co-conspirators” 
(collectively, “Defendants”).  Mr. Justice claimed that on August 10 and 11, 2016, Ms. 
Nelson and her attorneys, Mr. Valone and Ms. Meares, “offered to sell unsupervised co-
parenting time” to him for $400,000.00.  Mr. Justice further alleged that he had “agreed 
under coercion” to pay Ms. Nelson $400,000.00 and that Ms. Nelson agreed to provide 
their son for unsupervised co-parenting time with Mr. Justice four days later if Mr. Justice
provided to her proof of a cashier’s check for $200,000.00 of the total $400,000.00 by the 
next day.  Mr. Justice claimed that he had produced the cashier’s check and as a result was 
permitted to see his son without supervision on August 14, 2016.  Although not clearly
stated in Mr. Justice’s complaint, the contested $400,000.00 appeared to derive from Ms. 
Nelson’s request for Mr. Justice to pay her attorney’s fees.  

Mr. Justice also claimed that his attorney met with Mr. Valone and Ms. Meares on 
August 17, 2016, “to attempt a final settlement agreement.”  According to Mr. Justice, Mr. 
Valone committed extortion by threatening that Mr. Justice’s co-parenting time would 
revert back to supervised co-parenting if Mr. Justice refused to pay the “alleged 
$400,000.00 in attorney fees.”  Mr. Justice alleged that the “$400,000.00 payment fell 
through,” and consequently, Ms. Nelson ceased providing Mr. Justice with “unsupervised 
access” to their son.  Mr. Justice alleged that his co-parenting time with their son continued 
to be supervised after the purported settlement agreement fell through.1  

Based upon the alleged conduct by Ms. Nelson and her attorneys, Mr. Justice made 
claims against Defendants, including:  (1) extortion, attempted extortion, and conspiracy 

                                           
1 Mr. Justice also made claims of extortion as far back as 2012, including (1) Ms. Nelson’s 2013 
purported threat to “push back” if Mr. Justice sought rights to their son after he attempted to 
schedule Ms. Nelson’s deposition; (2) a 2013 act of purported extortion by Mr. Valone; (3) a 2014 
act of extortion by Ms. Nelson and Mr. Valone; (4) a 2012 act of extortion and coercion of a 
witness by Ms. Nelson; (5) an act of eliciting perjured testimony from Ms. Nelson by Mr. Valone 
and Ms. Meares in 2017; (6) Mr. Valone’s harassment of a witness in 2015; (7) fraudulent 
attorney’s fees and discretionary costs; and (8) an attempt in 2015 by Ms. Nelson to extract money 
from Mr. Justice. 
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to commit extortion; (2) intentional infliction of emotional distress; (3) tortious interference 
with parental rights and attempted interference with parental rights; (4) conspiracy; (5) 
coercion and/or common law coercion; (6) abuse of process and conspiracy to abuse 
process; (7) fraud and conspiracy to commit fraud; and (8) blackmail and conspiracy to 
commit blackmail.  In his appellate brief, Mr. Justice has explained that these causes of 
action stemmed from Defendants’ “offer to sell” Mr. Justice time with his son.  Mr. 
Justice’s complaint requested $1,000,000.00 in compensatory damages, $4,000,000.00 in 
punitive damages, and attorney’s fees. 

Valone Defendants filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to 
Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 12.02(6).  Thereafter, Ms. Nelson and Meares 
Defendants likewise filed motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim.  Defendants 
argued, inter alia, that “settlement negotiations cannot be a basis for a claim” under 
Tennessee Rule of Evidence 408.

Meares Defendants also filed a memorandum of law in support of their motion to 
dismiss with certain court orders attached as exhibits.2  Meares Defendants requested the 
Trial Court take judicial notice of these orders, some of which were issued by the Juvenile 
Court in the underlying case.  They argued that these orders demonstrated that Mr. Justice
had no viable case against Defendants.  The first order was entered by the Knox County 
Chancery Court (“the Chancery Court”).  Therein, the Chancery Court found that Mr. 
Justice had intentionally submitted a false fee petition to a federal court and testified falsely 
in federal court, justifying his disbarment from the practice of law.  

The second exhibit was a 2017 order entered by the Juvenile Court, awarding
custody of their son to Ms. Nelson and limiting Mr. Justice to supervised co-parenting time.  
The Juvenile Court also awarded to Ms. Nelson attorney’s fees in the amount of 
$376,638.90.  The Juvenile Court found that Mr. Justice had been physically and 
psychologically abusive to Ms. Nelson and psychologically abusive to their son.  The Court 
also found that Mr. Justice had “intentionally manipulated this litigation in an attempt to 
‘financially ruin’ Ms. Nelson.”   

The third exhibit was another Juvenile Court 2017 order awarding Ms. Nelson 
$45,238.85 in discretionary costs.  The last exhibit was a 2017 order from the Juvenile
Court denying Mr. Justice’s motion seeking the sitting judge’s recusal.  The Juvenile Court 
also denied Mr. Justice’s claim that the Juvenile Court had failed to address Mr. Justice’s 
claim that Mother was holding their son hostage and was guilty of human trafficking.

                                           
2 Meares Defendants referred to and incorporated arguments made by Valone Defendants in their 
memorandum of law in support of their motion to dismiss. Valone Defendants’ brief in support is 
absent from the record.  
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In the Juvenile Court’s order denying Mr. Justice’s motion for recusal, the Juvenile 
Court addressed Mr. Justice’s contention that the Juvenile Court had failed to address his 
allegation that Ms. Nelson had engaged in human trafficking and was holding their son
hostage, specifically finding that: 

This Court has never accepted Mr. Justice’s repeated allegation of 
hostage negotiation.  This Court has previously ruled the settlement 
discussions between the parties are inadmissible [pursuant to Tennessee Rule 
of Evidence 408].  Once again, these issues can be addressed on appeal.  
There is simply no evidence of human trafficking no matter how many times 
Mr. Justice raises the allegation.

Mr. Justice appealed the Juvenile Court’s custody order, and this Court affirmed the 
Juvenile Court’s judgment in all respects.  See Nelson v. Justice, No. E2017-00895-COA-
R3-CV, 2019 WL 337040 (Tenn. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2019).3  On appeal, Mr. Justice argued 
that the Juvenile Court had erred by excluding evidence of his settlement negotiations with 
Ms. Nelson, which he characterized as hostage negotiations.  This Court entered an opinion 
on January 25, 2019, rejecting Mr. Justice’s argument, and explaining: 

This case involves a protracted and bitter custody dispute. The minor 
child at issue, Noah Nelson, was born in February 2005 to Kim Renae Nelson 
(“Mother”) and Loring E. Justice (“Father”). Mother and Father were never 
married, and their three-year relationship ended shortly after they learned of 
the pregnancy in the summer of 2004. Mother is an attorney employed as 
the public defender for Roane County. Father is a self-employed attorney.

* * *

Father next argues that the trial court erred in excluding a proposed 
agreed order and parenting plan. The proposed order and parenting plan were 
the result of lengthy settlement negotiations the parties entered into on
August 10, 2016. Pursuant to the proposed order, Father would pay Mother 
$200,000 for her attorney fees and $200,000 for child support arrearages. 
Ultimately, the settlement negotiations failed and the parties did not sign the 
proposed order and parenting plan. At trial, Father took the position that 
Mother did not believe her contention that supervised visitation was 
necessary. Rather, she intended to allow Father unsupervised parenting time 
with Noah in exchange for $400,000. Father attempted to support this 

                                           
3 The portion of the opinion, Nelson v. Justice, No. E2017-00895-COA-R3-CV, 2019 WL 337040 
(Tenn. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2019), addressing the “missing witness rule” was overruled by the 
Tennessee Supreme Court in In re Mattie L., 618 S.W.3d 335 (Tenn. 2021).  In re Mattie L. did 
not negatively affect the portions of Nelson v. Justice cited in this Opinion.
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argument by entering the proposed order into evidence. The trial court found 
that the proposed order was evidence of settlement negotiations and excluded 
it under Tenn. R. Evid. 408.

Tennessee Rule of Evidence 408 provides that evidence of offering or 
accepting consideration in the compromise of a claim is “not admissible to 
prove liability for or invalidity of a civil claim or its amount or a criminal 
charge or its punishment.” Evidence of conduct or statements made during 
settlement negotiations is also not admissible. TENN. R. EVID. 408. Rule 
408 does not, however, “require exclusion when the evidence is offered for 
another purpose, such as proving bias or prejudice of a witness, negativing a 
contention of undue delay, or proving an effort to obstruct a criminal 
investigation or prosecution.”

In the present case, Father asserts that the proposed order should not 
have been excluded under Rule 408 because it was offered for a purpose 
other than proving liability on a civil claim or the monetary amount. Instead, 
he asserts it was offered to prove that Mother attempted to extort money from 
him during the settlement negotiations by holding Noah hostage and offering 
Father unsupervised visitation in exchange for $400,000. Relying on 
Uforma/Shelby Business Forms, Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 111 F.3d 1284, 1293 (6th 
Cir. 1997), Father argues that Rule 408 is inapplicable to wrongful acts 
committed during settlement negotiations.

Uforma involved a corporation charged with violating the National 
Labor Relations Act in various ways, including threatening the union. 
Uforma, 111 F.3d at 1287. At trial, the union supported this claim by 
introducing evidence that, during compromise negotiations, the corporation 
threatened to eliminate the third shift if the union pursued its grievance. Id.
at 1287-88. The corporation argued this evidence should have been excluded 
as settlement negotiations. Id. at 1293. The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals 
interpreted Federal Rule of Evidence 408, which is essentially identical to 
the Tennessee rule, and concluded that the rule “does not exclude evidence 
of alleged threats.” Id. at 1294. As the court explained, “ ‘Rule 408 is . . . 
inapplicable when the claim is based upon some wrong that was committed 
in the course of the settlement discussions.’ ” Id. at 1293 (quoting 23 Charles 
Alan Wright & Kenneth W. Graham, Jr., FEDERAL PRACTICE AND 
PROCEDURE: Evidence § 5314 (1st ed. 1980) ).

The present case is distinguishable from Uforma. Unlike in Uforma, 
none of the evidence Father sought to introduce tends to show that Mother 
engaged in extortion or holding Noah hostage. The proposed order allowed 
Father unsupervised parenting time but makes no reference to him paying 



- 6 -

Mother for that unsupervised parenting time. Rather, the proposed order 
provided he would pay Mother $200,000 for her attorney fees and $200,000 
for child support arrearages.  If hostage negotiations could be established
merely by one parent offering parenting time to the other parent in connection 
with attorney fees and child support, every case involving parenting time 
with a child and a child support determination coupled with an award of 
attorney fees would constitute a hostage negotiation. Thus, we conclude that 
Father’s offered proof fails to show that Mother committed a wrongful act 
that would render Rule 408 inapplicable.

Id. at *1, 15-16.  At the time Mr. Justice filed his complaint in the Trial Court, this Court 
had not yet decided his appeal of the Juvenile Court decision.  Mr. Justice’s action in the 
Trial Court ran parallel to his appeal of the Juvenile Court decision.

In November 2017, Valone Defendants, Meares Defendants, and Ms. Nelson each 
filed a motion for Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 11.03 sanctions against Mr. Justice
and his attorney, B. Chadwick Rickman.  In each of the three Rule 11 motions, Defendants 
stated, inter alia, that there was no basis in law or in fact to support Mr. Justice’s allegation 
that Defendants had offered to sell unsupervised co-parenting time to Mr. Justice for 
$400,000.00, or committed extortion, hostage negotiation, or human trafficking.  
Defendants attached as exhibits to their Rule 11 motions the previously referenced orders 
that were attached to Meares Defendants’ memorandum of law in support of their motion 
to dismiss. 

In December 2017, Mr. Justice filed a response to Defendants’ motions to dismiss.  
Defendants filed a joint reply to Mr. Justice’s response, arguing that Mr. Justice’s 
complaint was “rif[e] with inflammatory conclusory statements, conclusions of law and 
mischaracterizations of fact.”  As such, Defendants posited that the Trial Court was 
constrained to accept as true only the facts pled in the complaint—not Mr. Justice’s 
characterizations of those facts or conclusory statements.  Defendants noted that the only 
relevant facts pled by Mr. Justice were that Ms. Nelson and he “took part in prolonged 
litigation in the [Juvenile Court] for Roane County, Tennessee concerning a family law 
matter” and that during this case, “the parties conducted discussions as to whether [Mr. 
Justice] would pay for [Ms. Nelson’s] attorney[’s] fees.”  Defendants also noted that the 
case ultimately went to trial and that the Juvenile Court in that case found in favor of Ms. 
Nelson, awarding her approximately $377,000.00 in attorney’s fees. 

Mr. Justice filed an amended complaint on January 4, 2018, the date the Trial Court 
was scheduled to hear Defendants’ motions to dismiss.  Mr. Justice incorporated his 
original complaint as if set forth verbatim except where the two were inconsistent.  Mr. 
Justice added two claims under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(“RICO”), a claim that Defendants violated his parental rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a 
claim that Defendants conspired to interfere with his civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1985, 
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and a claim that Defendants conspired with public officials to deprive Mr. Justice of rights 
under color of state law. 

Defendants subsequently filed a joint response in opposition to Mr. Justice’s motion 
to amend his complaint, or alternatively, dismiss his amended complaint.  Defendants 
referenced the Trial Court’s oral dismissal of Mr. Justice’s complaint at the January 2018 
hearing.  Defendants requested that the Trial Court deny Mr. Justice’s amendment because 
the amendment would be futile.  Defendants noted that although Mr. Justice had added 
several statements and claims, none of his additions stated a claim upon which relief could 
be granted and would not produce a result different from the Trial Court’s oral dismissal 
of the original complaint.  Defendants further claimed that the additional enumerated 
paragraphs in the amended complaint contained allegations that were contained in the 
original complaint. 

In February 2018, Mr. Justice filed a motion to amend, requesting leave to file a 
second amended complaint.  In addition, Mr. Justice filed an objection to the Defendants’ 
proposed order granting their motions to dismiss.  Mr. Justice contended that despite being 
notified during the January 4, 2018 hearing that he had filed an amended complaint, the 
Trial Court proceeded to consider Defendants’ motions to dismiss based solely on the 
original complaint.  Defendants responded by filing a joint response to his objection to 
their proposed order.  Defendants accused Mr. Justice of abusing the Tennessee Rules of 
Civil Procedure and the judicial system by filing a motion for first amended complaint 
during the hearing on the motions to dismiss and filing the second motion to amend on the 
eve of the Trial Court’s entry of an order dismissing the complaint.  In addition, Defendants 
filed a joint objection to Mr. Justice’s motion to file a second amended complaint due to 
his failure to file the proposed amended complaint with his motion.  Mr. Justice then filed 
a notice of withdrawal of his second motion to amend his complaint.   

The Trial Court entered an order in March 2018.  Therein, the Trial Court withdrew 
its oral ruling dismissing Mr. Justice’s complaint at the January 4, 2018 hearing.  Given 
that Defendants had not yet filed responsive pleadings, the Trial Court determined that Mr. 
Justice had maintained the right to file an amended complaint without leave of court.  
Therefore, the Trial Court stated that it would consider the amended complaint as the 
“complaint at issue.”

In May 2018, Mr. Justice again filed a motion for leave to file a second amended 
complaint with the second amended complaint attached as an exhibit.  Mr. Justice also filed 
a response to Defendants’ supplemental brief to their motions to dismiss.  Defendants’ 
supplemental brief is not in the record.  In Mr. Justice’s response, he argued that Defendants 
had waived the protections of Tennessee Rule of Evidence 408 due to Ms. Nelson’s 
counsel’s references to the settlement proposal in his opening statement during the 
underlying case and Ms. Nelson’s testimony about the settlement proposal during the 
underlying case.  Mr. Justice also contended that the Trial Court should consider only the 
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complaint in resolving Defendants’ motions to dismiss, not their attached orders from the 
underlying case.   Defendants filed a joint reply to Mr. Justice’s response.

On May 15, 2018, Mr. Justice filed a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice 
pursuant to Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 41.01.  On May 21, 2018, the Trial Court 
entered an order of voluntary dismissal without prejudice.  On June 12, 2018, Defendants 
filed a motion to set a hearing on their Rule 11 motions for sanctions.  The Trial Court set 
the hearing on the Rule 11 motions for September 7, 2018.

On September 6, 2018, Mr. Justice filed a “Response to Motion for Rule 11 
Sanctions and Motion for Abeyance Until the Oral Argument and/or Opinion in the 
Underlying Matter Becomes Available and Motion for Abeyance for Discovery on 
Defendants Exaggerated Monetary Claims.”  Therein, Mr. Justice argued that the Trial 
Court lacked jurisdiction to sanction him given that he had voluntarily dismissed the action 
on May 15, 2018.  In addition, Mr. Justice contended that his original complaint was 
superseded by his amended complaint, which Defendants had not challenged under Rule 
11.  Mr. Justice further posited that Defendants had filed their Rule 11 motions to attempt 
to force him to withdraw his complaint, which he claimed was an inappropriate use of the 
rule, and that their motions were too vague.

Mr. Justice also contended that his right to due process had been violated because 
Defendants had not submitted affidavits and time itemizations supporting their award of 
fees until a year after filing their Rule 11 motions. Therefore, he did not have a “legitimate 
opportunity to dispute both the propriety of sanctions and the amount of sanctions.”  He 
also posited that his complaint was not frivolous given that the Trial Court had held lengthy 
hearings on Defendants’ motions to dismiss and that the Court of Appeals had asked 
numerous questions related to the Rule 408 issue during oral argument in his appeal of the 
underlying case.  Mr. Justice requested that the Trial Court defer resolution of the Rule 11 
motions until the Court of Appeals’ decision was released.    Mr. Justice also requested that 
the Trial Court hold the matter in abeyance to provide him with the opportunity to conduct 
discovery on whether Defendants had violated their duty to mitigate damages. 

On the same day, Mr. Justice filed a motion requesting that his attorney be permitted 
to “participate by telephone, or in the alternative to continue hearing, or in the alternative 
for permission to waive oral argument.”  The Court removed the hearing from the docket 
and determined that it would decide the motions based upon the filings without need for 
oral argument. 

On October 18, 2019, the Trial Court entered an order granting Defendants’ motions 
for sanctions against Mr. Justice pursuant to Rule 11.02 (“2019 Order”).  The Court held 
that it had retained jurisdiction to consider the Rule 11 motions despite Mr. Justice’s 
voluntary dismissal.  The Court quoted Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 
396 (1990), in which the United States Supreme Court stated: “[T]he imposition of a Rule 
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11 sanction is not a judgment on the merits of an action.  Rather, it requires the 
determination of a collateral issue:  whether the attorney has abused the judicial process, 
and, if so, what sanction would be appropriate.  Such a determination may be made after 
the principal suit has been terminated.”  The Court also determined that Defendants’ Rule 
11 motions applied to the original complaint as well as to the amended complaint insofar 
as the allegations of the original complaint had been incorporated into the amended 
complaint.  Ultimately, the Court determined that sanctions were proper because Mr. 
Justice had submitted pleadings on grounds that he knew were without merit, citing the 
Juvenile Court’s findings on Mr. Justice’s litigation tactics and his allegations of hostage 
negotiation and human trafficking. 

The Trial Court made the following findings in pertinent part:

Mr. Justice was also aware that the judge in the underlying litigation 
at issue had ruled that the information involved in the settlement discussions 
were inadmissible and the trial judge in Roane County refused to accept as 
credible any allegation of human trafficking by the Defendant.  Mr. Justice
was also aware that the trial judge made a specific award of attorneys’ fees 
to the defendant and found the fees to be reasonable. The issue of the 
settlement negotiations and attorneys’ fees were the subject of [Mr. Justice]’s 
appeal of the judgment of the trial judge in the Roane County litigation.

Since these issues had been litigated in the underlying Roane County 
litigation and findings had been issued, [Mr. Justice]’s avenue of redress was 
to seek an appeal, not to file a separate action. [Mr. Justice] chose to do both 
and ultimately the Court of Appeals upheld the trial judge on the very rulings 
upon which [Mr. Justice] asserts liability against the Defendants in this case.

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court finds that [Mr. Justice] filed 
a pleading (the Complaint, as incorporated in the Amended Complaint) that 
contained allegations and other factual contentions that did not have 
evidentiary support and were presented for the improper purposes of 
harassment and needless increase in cost in the litigation. The filing of the 
pleading is a certification that the pleading is filed to the best of the person’s 
knowledge, information and belief, formed after reasonable inquiry. This 
Court finds that such a certification could not be made in this case based upon 
rules of evidence and the prior rulings of the trial judge in the underlying 
litigation regarding the same facts alleged as a basis of liability in this case.

(Internal footnote omitted.)

The Trial Court acknowledged that Defendants sought the cost of their attorney’s 
fees and that these fees were substantial, but the Court found that they were justified.  The 
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Trial Court denied Mr. Justice’s request for discovery regarding the propriety of 
Defendants’ requested fees inasmuch as the action had been initiated for an improper 
purpose with the intent to harass and increase costs.  The Court awarded Valone Defendants 
$28,699.50 in attorney’s fees and expenses; Meares Defendants $17,454.00 in attorney’s 
fees and expenses; and Ms. Nelson $6,300.00 in attorney’s fees and expenses.  The Court 
entered its sanction order against Mr. Justice, rather than his counsel, Mr. Rickman. 

In November 2019, Mr. Justice filed a motion to alter or amend the Trial Court’s 
order granting Defendants’ motions for sanctions.  Mr. Justice noted that he had refiled the 
action against Defendants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 
Tennessee (“the District Court”) in May 2019, thereby depriving the Trial Court of 
jurisdiction.  In addition, Mr. Justice argued, inter alia, that the Trial Court’s order of 
voluntary dismissal did not reserve jurisdiction over the Rule 11 motions.  Mr. Justice also 
argued that monetary sanctions could not be awarded against a represented party for a 
violation of Rule 11.02(2).  In January 2020, the Trial Court entered an order 
acknowledging that it had been unaware that Mr. Justice refiled his claims in the District 
Court prior to entering its 2019 Order.  It therefore vacated its 2019 Order for lack of 
jurisdiction. 

In August 2021, Defendants’ filed renewed motions for sanctions.  Defendants 
explained that the District Court had dismissed all of Mr. Justice’s claims with prejudice 
and that the Trial Court again had authority to decide whether to sanction Mr. Justice.  
Defendants attached several exhibits, one of which was the District Court’s order of 
dismissal.  Mr. Justice filed a response, again arguing that the Trial Court lacked 
jurisdiction to adjudicate the Rule 11 motions.

On October 3, 2022, the Trial Court entered an order on the renewed motions for 
sanctions (“2022 Order”).  The Trial Court found the motions well-taken and reinstated its 
2019 Order imposing Rule 11 sanctions upon Mr. Justice.  Mr. Justice timely filed this 
appeal.

Discussion

Although not stated exactly as such, Mr. Justice presents the following issues for 
our review:  whether the Trial Court lost jurisdiction to sanction Mr. Justice after he 
voluntarily dismissed his claims against Defendants; whether the Trial Court erred by 
failing to properly apply Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 11 in its sanctions order against 
Mr. Justice; whether the Trial Court erred by denying Mr. Justice the right to conduct 
discovery on Defendants’ attorney’s fees affidavits; whether the Trial Court’s denial of 
discovery on Defendants’ attorney’s fees affidavits denied Mr. Justice due process of law;
and whether the Trial Court erred by granting Defendants’ motions for Rule 11 sanctions 
against Mr. Justice.  These issues may be consolidated as three overarching issues: (1) 
whether the Trial Court had jurisdiction to adjudicate the Rule 11 motions, (2) whether the 
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Trial Court erred in granting the Rule 11 motions, and (3) whether the Trial Court erred in 
denying Mr. Justice’s request for discovery.  Defendants raise an additional issue, which 
we have restated slightly as follows:  whether Mr. Justice waived his issue related to due 
process of law by failing to brief the issue in accordance with Tennessee Rule of Appellate 
Procedure 27(a)(7). 

A.  Jurisdiction

Mr. Justice first argues that the Trial Court lost jurisdiction to grant Defendants’ 
Rule 11 motions after he voluntarily dismissed his action.  Mr. Justice contends:

On May 15, 2018, well before the Rule 11 motions were set for 
hearing, Appellant voluntarily dismissed his claims. This deprived the trial 
court of jurisdiction to sanction on the Rule 11 motions. Before 1993, a 
voluntary dismissal before adjudication of a Rule 11 motion did not deprive 
a court of authority to adjudicate the Rule 11 motion after the voluntary 
dismissal. See Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384 (1990) 
(allowing Rule 11 sanctions notwithstanding the plaintiff’s voluntary 
dismissal). This holding was superseded based on a 1993 amendment to Rule 
11. See Gomes v. American Century Companies, Inc., 2010 WL 1980201 
(E.D.Cal.2010) (noting several district courts have concluded “the 1993 
amendments [to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure] supersede 
the Court’s holding in Cooter & Gell as it relates to voluntary dismissals.”)[.]

Tennessee courts have recognized Tennessee’s Rule 11 is almost 
identical to the federal rule and Tennessee follows the federal case law. The 
1993 amendment changes the Cooter & Gell doctrine, and a court cannot 
sanction after a voluntary dismissal.

Defendants contend that Mr. Justice misinterprets the amendment to Rule 11.  Defendants 
argue instead that the amendment to Rule 11 created a safe harbor provision, which 
provides that the party seeking sanctions must serve the Rule 11 motion to the other party 
and then wait twenty-one days before filing the motion with the court to afford the 
offending party an opportunity to correct or withdraw its filing.  Upon our review of the 
relevant law, we agree with Defendants that Mr. Justice misinterprets the amendment and 
that it does not overrule the United States Supreme Court’s holding in Cooter & Gell v. 
Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384 (1990) to the extent proposed by Mr. Justice. 

The United States Supreme Court held in Cooter & Gell that federal courts may 
enforce Rule 11 sanctions even after a plaintiff has filed a notice of voluntary dismissal. 
Id. at 395.  The Court explained:
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The view more consistent with Rule 11’s language and purposes, and 
the one supported by the weight of Circuit authority, is that district courts 
may enforce Rule 11 even after the plaintiff has filed a notice of dismissal 
under Rule 41(a)(1). The district court’s jurisdiction, invoked by the filing 
of the underlying complaint, supports consideration of both the merits of the 
action and the motion for Rule 11 sanctions arising from that filing. As the 
“violation of Rule 11 is complete when the paper is filed,” a voluntary 
dismissal does not expunge the Rule 11 violation. In order to comply with 
Rule 11’s requirement that a court “shall” impose sanctions “[i]f a pleading, 
motion, or other paper is signed in violation of this rule,” a court must have 
the authority to consider whether there has been a violation of the signing 
requirement regardless of the dismissal of the underlying action. In our view, 
nothing in the language of Rule 41(a)(1)(i), Rule 11, or other statute or 
Federal Rule terminates a district court’s authority to impose sanctions after 
such a dismissal.

It is well established that a federal court may consider collateral issues 
after an action is no longer pending. For example, district courts may award 
costs after an action is dismissed for want of jurisdiction. See 28 U.S.C. § 
1919. This Court has indicated that motions for costs or attorney’s fees are 
“independent proceeding[s] supplemental to the original proceeding and not 
a request for a modification of the original decree.” . . . Like the imposition 
of costs, attorney’s fees, and contempt sanctions, the imposition of a Rule 11 
sanction is not a judgment on the merits of an action. Rather, it requires the 
determination of a collateral issue: whether the attorney has abused the 
judicial process, and, if so, what sanction would be appropriate. Such a 
determination may be made after the principal suit has been terminated.

Because a Rule 11 sanction does not signify a district court’s 
assessment of the legal merits of the complaint, the imposition of such a 
sanction after a voluntary dismissal does not deprive the plaintiff of his right 
under Rule 41(a)(1) to dismiss an action without prejudice. “[D]ismissal . .
. without prejudice” is a dismissal that does not “operat[e] as an adjudication 
upon the merits,” Rule 41(a)(1), and thus does not have a res judicata effect. 
Even if a district court indicated that a complaint was not legally tenable or 
factually well founded for Rule 11 purposes, the resulting Rule 11 sanction 
would nevertheless not preclude the refiling of a complaint. Indeed, even if 
the Rule 11 sanction imposed by the court were a prohibition against refiling 
the complaint (assuming that would be an “appropriate sanction” for Rule 11 
purposes), the preclusion of refiling would be neither a consequence of the 
dismissal (which was without prejudice) nor a “term or condition” placed 
upon the dismissal (which was unconditional), see Rule 41(a)(2).
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* * *

Rule 41(a)(1) does not codify any policy that the plaintiff’s right to one free 
dismissal also secures the right to file baseless papers. The filing of 
complaints, papers, or other motions without taking the necessary care in 
their preparation is a separate abuse of the judicial system, subject to separate 
sanction. As noted above, a voluntary dismissal does not eliminate the Rule 
11 violation. Baseless filing puts the machinery of justice in motion, 
burdening courts and individuals alike with needless expense and delay. 
Even if the careless litigant quickly dismisses the action, the harm triggering 
Rule 11’s concerns has already occurred. Therefore, a litigant who violates 
Rule 11 merits sanctions even after a dismissal. Moreover, the imposition of 
such sanctions on abusive litigants is useful to deter such misconduct. If a 
litigant could purge his violation of Rule 11 merely by taking a dismissal, he 
would lose all incentive to “stop, think and investigate more carefully before 
serving and filing papers.” 

Id. at 395-98 (internal citations omitted).  In arguing that Cooter & Gell is no longer 
applicable and that trial courts can no longer impose Rule 11 sanctions upon a party after 
a voluntary dismissal, Mr. Justice primarily relies upon Gomes v. Am. Century Cos., Inc., 
No. 2:09-cv-02153-FCD/KJM, 2010 WL 1980201 (E.D. Cal. May 17, 2010) and Ewan v. 
Hardison Law Firm, 465 S.W.3d 124 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2014).

In Gomes, the plaintiff filed a notice of voluntary dismissal on January 22, 2010, 
and on February 4, 2010, the defendants filed a request to “reopen the case for the limited 
purpose of filing a motion for sanctions.” Gomes, 2010 WL 1980201, at *1.  “The court 
noted that the request was procedurally improper but allowed defendants to file a properly 
noticed motion for sanctions, which they did on March 18, 2010.”  Id.  The Gomes Court 
denied the defendants’ Rule 11 motion, concluding:  

To the extent [Commercial Space Mgmt. Co., Inc. v.] Boeing [Co., Inc., 193 
F.3d 1074 (9th Cir. 1999)] and Cooter & Gell [v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 
384 (1990)] hold that a case can remain open after it has been voluntarily 
dismissed for purposes of imposing sanctions, neither case concludes that the 
moving party is relieved of his burden to comply with Rule 11’s safe harbor 
provision.

* * *

Under Rule 11, if a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses the action during the safe 
harbor period they will not be subject to monetary sanctions. Fed. R. Civ. 
Pro. 11(c)(2). To allow sanctions here, where plaintiff filed a voluntary 
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dismissal prior to the sanctions motion being noticed, would be contrary to 
the spirit of Rule 11.

Id. at *2-3.  Gomes, therefore, sets forth the proposition that a defendant must file a Rule 
11 motion in compliance with the twenty-one-day safe harbor period and prior to a 
plaintiff’s filing of a voluntary dismissal notice.  Gomes is, however, silent as to Mr. 
Justice’s proposition that a trial court cannot rule on a Rule 11 motion after the plaintiff 
files a notice of voluntary dismissal, even if it was properly filed in compliance with the
twenty-one-day safe harbor and prior to the plaintiff’s notice of voluntary dismissal.  
Rather, this Court interprets the Gomes Court as holding that a trial court cannot rule on a 
Rule 11 motion if the defendant filed the Rule 11 motion after the plaintiff already filed a 
notice of voluntary dismissal within the safe harbor period. 

The facts in Ewan are also distinguishable.  In Ewan, this Court described the 
procedural facts as follows:

[T]he first pleading filed in this case by the Defendants was a motion for 
sanctions on May 4, 2009. The motion asserted that there was no legal basis 
for the suit, and that it was merely a vehicle to harass the Defendants and 
cause unnecessary expense. The trial court denied this motion by order of 
March 1, 2011. The trial court specifically found that the Ewans had 
“reasonable cause under the facts and circumstances of the case to file such 
pleadings.” The Defendants did not again raise the issue of sanctions until 
their November 8, 2013 pleading entitled “Defendants’ Opposition to 
[Ewans’] Entry of an Order of Voluntary Dismissal[,]” which was filed over 
two months after the Ewans’ filed their written notice of nonsuit. In this 
pleading, the Defendants sought sanctions against the Ewans for allegedly 
“burden[ing] th[e] [trial] [c]ourt and the Defendants with needles[s] 
inconvenience, expense and delay . . . despite adverse rulings against them 
in multiple courts of law.”

From the record, it appears that the trial court declined to award 
sanctions on the basis that the nonsuit foreclosed the right to seek sanctions. 
Mr. Martin [one of the defendants] argues that this was in error, citing federal 
caselaw on this issue. See Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 
110 S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 359 (1990) (allowing Rule 11 sanctions 
notwithstanding the plaintiff’s voluntary dismissal of the action).

Ewan v. Hardison Law Firm, 465 S.W.3d 124, 139 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2014).  This Court 
affirmed the trial court’s denial of the defendants’ Rule 11 motion and determined that the 
defendants’ reliance on Cooter & Gell was misplaced. 
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In reaching this conclusion, this Court noted that the holding in Cooter & Gell had 
been “called into question by a number of federal courts based on a 1993 amendment to 
Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure adding a ‘safe harbor’ requirement to the 
rule,” citing Gomes as an example.  Id.  This Court ultimately concluded that the trial court 
had acted properly due to the defendants’ failure to comply with the twenty-one-day safe
harbor provision of Rule 11.03.  Id. at 140.  This Court explained:

In this case, there is no indication in the record that the Defendants 
complied with the safe harbor provision in Rule 11.03. Nothing in the record 
shows that the Defendants served the Ewans with their motion for sanctions 
prior to filing their request with the trial court. Indeed, the record shows that, 
in direct violation of Rule 11.03(1)(a), the Defendants did not file their 
request for sanctions “separately from other motions or requests,” but instead 
requested sanctions concurrent with their opposition to the Ewans’ nonsuit.
As previously discussed, the failure to comply with the safe harbor provision 
in Rule 11 is fatal to a request for sanctions. See [Lindsey v.] Lambert, [No.
W2010-00213-COA-R3-CV,] 2011 WL 497248, at * 1 [(Tenn. Ct. App. Feb. 
11, 2011)]; [Brown v.] Shappley, 290 S.W.3d [197] at 202 [(Tenn. Ct. App. 
2008)]; Mitrano [v. Houser], 240 S.W.3d [854] at 862 [(Tenn. Ct. App.
2007)].

Further, because the safe harbor provision provides that a party shall 
be given an opportunity to withdraw their claim or paper prior to the award 
of sanctions, federal courts applying a similar provision have held that the 
rule “appear[s] to preclude bringing sanctions after the party against which 
sanctions are sought has voluntarily dismissed its suit.” [Hockley by]
Hockley [v. Shan Enters. Ltd. P’ship], 19 F. Supp. 2d [235] at 240 [(D.N.J. 
1998)] (holding that the ruling in Cooter & Gell conflicts with the safe harbor 
provision); see also de la Fuente v. DCI Telecommunications, Inc., 259 F.
Supp. 2d 250 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (noting that “a court can no longer issue Rule 
11 sanctions in a case where, as in Cooter & Gell, a complaint was 
voluntarily dismissed within 21 days of a request for Rule 11 sanctions.”); 
c.f., Ridder v. City of Springfield, 109 F.3d 288, (6th Cir. 1997) (holding that 
a party who waits until after final disposition of the case to request sanctions 
“has given up the opportunity to receive an award of Rule 11 sanctions” 
because the delay “deprive[s] [the opposing party] of the ‘safe harbor’ to 
which the rule says he is entitled.”).

Id. at 140 (emphasis added).  Again, like the federal district court in Gomes, the Ewan 
Court did not hold that a trial court cannot rule on a properly served, safe harbor compliant 
motion that was filed prior to the plaintiff’s notice of nonsuit.  The principle laid out in
Gomes and Ewan is simply that a trial court cannot grant a party’s Rule 11 motion if (1) 
the party did not comply with the safe harbor provision or (2) the opposing party corrected
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or withdrew the deficient pleading before the twenty-one-day safe harbor expired.  Simply 
put, the cases cited by Mr. Justice hold only that a trial court cannot rule on a Rule 11 
motion that is filed after the opposing party has filed a notice of voluntary dismissal.  See 
Hockley by Hockley v. Shan Enters. Ltd. P’ship, 19 F. Supp. 2d 235, 240 (D.N.J. 1998)
(“[T]he text of the current Rule 11 and current authority interpreting it indicate that a 
motion for sanctions under Rule 11 must be submitted prior to the dismissal of a case.”).

This is not the situation before us now.  It is undisputed that Defendants complied 
with the twenty-one-day safe harbor provision of Rule 11.03 and that Defendants filed their 
motions for sanctions prior to Mr. Justice’s notice of voluntary dismissal.  The Defendants
in the present case filed their respective Rule 11 motions in November 2017 after providing 
Mr. Justice notice in October 2017.  Mr. Justice did not file his notice of voluntary dismissal 
until May 2018.  Therefore, Mr. Justice cannot contend that he acted within the twenty-
one-day safe harbor, thereby depriving the Trial Court authority to adjudicate Defendants’ 
Rule 11 motions.  

While we recognize that the safe harbor provision limits the holding in Cooter & 
Gell to the extent that a party may remedy a Rule 11 violation by correcting or withdrawing 
a pleading within the safe harbor period, we nevertheless conclude that the Trial Court 
maintained authority to rule on Defendants’ Rule 11 motions, even after Mr. Justice
voluntarily dismissed his case.  See Ridder v. City of Springfield, 109 F.3d 288, 295 (6th 
Cir. 1997) (“Once a motion is properly filed with the court, the drafters prudently permit 
the court to defer ruling on the sanctions motion until after the final resolution of the 
case.”).  We instead interpret the safe harbor provision of Rule 11.03 as abrogating 
language in Cooter & Gell that suggests that the harm caused by filing a complaint in 
violation of Rule 11 cannot be remedied by correction or withdrawal.  For instance, the 
Cooter & Gell Court explained:    

Even if the careless litigant quickly dismisses the action, the harm triggering 
Rule 11’s concerns has already occurred.  Therefore, a litigant who violates 
Rule 11 merits sanctions even after a dismissal.  Moreover, the imposition of 
such sanctions on abusive litigants is useful to deter such misconduct.  If a 
litigant could purge his violation of Rule 11 merely by taking a dismissal, he 
would lose all incentive to “stop, think and investigate more carefully before 
serving and filing papers.”

Cooter & Gell, 496 U.S. at 398 (internal citations omitted).  The safe harbor provision, in 
contrast, does allow a party to “purge” the Rule 11 violation by correcting or withdrawing
a pleading within the twenty-one-day safe harbor period.  However, we are unable to 
conclude that the safe harbor provision somehow abrogates Cooter & Gell’s holding that a 
Rule 11 motion is a collateral issue subject to post-judgment adjudication. 
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Mr. Justice next argues that the Trial Court did not have jurisdiction to rule on 
Defendants’ Rule 11 motions because it did not “reserve or retain” jurisdiction over the 
motions in its order of voluntary dismissal.  Mr. Justice relies upon Rose v. Bushon, No. 
E2015-00644-COA-R3-CV, 2016 WL 7786449, at *4 (Tenn. Ct. App. Mar. 28, 2016), in 
which this Court held that a trial court erred when it decided to award attorney’s fees “after 
plaintiff had functionally and effectively ended this action by exercising her right to take a 
voluntary nonsuit.”  Mr. Justice’s reliance on this Court’s holding in Rose is misplaced.  
Although Rose addresses a trial court’s ability to award attorney’s fees after a party files a 
notice of voluntary dismissal, the decision has little bearing on the issue presented before 
us:  whether a trial court retains jurisdictions over a motion for Rule 11 sanctions after a 
party files a notice of voluntary dismissal outside of the safe harbor provision.

This Court held in Rose:

It is also undisputed that plaintiff’s notice of voluntary nonsuit was properly 
filed in the trial court on October 13, 2014, the same day plaintiff sent notice 
of same to defendants’ counsel. Under the plain language of Rule 41.01 and 
the opinions construing it, the nonsuit was taken and occurred on that date, 
and all that remained was the “ministerial and procedural” step of entry of an 
order of dismissal without prejudice. The trial court took that step one week 
later by entry of its order on October 20, 2014. There is no subsequent order 
in the record that discusses, alters, amends, vacates, or otherwise disturbs this 
order. Under these circumstances, we conclude that it was error for the trial 
court to order the disqualification of plaintiff’s counsel and award attorney’s 
fees, after plaintiff had functionally and effectively ended this action by 
exercising her right to take a voluntary nonsuit.

Rose, 2016 WL 7786449, at *4.  

To extend the reasoning of Rose to the circumstances of the present case would 
defeat the purpose of Rule 11 and its twenty-one-day safe harbor provision.  Tennessee 
Rule of Civil Procedure 11.03(1)(a) provides in pertinent part:  

A motion for sanctions under this rule shall be made separately from other 
motions or requests and shall describe the specific conduct alleged to violate 
subdivision 11.02. It shall be served as provided in Rule 5, but shall not be 
filed with or presented to the court unless, within 21 days after service of the 
motion (or such other period as the court may prescribe), the challenged 
paper, claim, defense, contention, allegation, or denial is not withdrawn or 
appropriately corrected.

Therefore, under Rule 11, a party who has been served with a Rule 11 motion has twenty-
one days to correct or withdraw the challenged paper, claim, defense, counterclaim, 
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allegation, or denial.  To extend Rose to this case would suggest that a party could escape 
sanctions by filing a notice of voluntary dismissal at any time, even far outside the twenty-
one-day safe harbor.  

In this case, the Trial Court found that Mr. Justice had been served with Valone 
Defendants’ Rule 11 motion on October 13, 2017, Ms. Nelson’s Rule 11 motion on October 
17, 2017, and Meares Defendants’ Rule 11 motion on October 19, 2017.  Yet, Mr. Justice
did not file his notice of voluntary dismissal until several months later on May 1, 2018.4  
Mr. Justice, nevertheless, seems to request that he be granted the benefit of the safe harbor 
provision, despite filing his notice of voluntary dismissal months after the expiration of the 
safe harbor.  If we were to hold, as urged by Mr. Justice, that a court loses jurisdiction to 
address a Rule 11 motion whenever a party files a notice of voluntary dismissal, even after 
expiration of the twenty-one-day safe harbor, we would effectively defeat the purpose and 
effect of Rule 11 and its safe harbor provision.  Barber v. Miller, 146 F.3d 707, 710 (9th 
Cir. 1998) (“The purpose of the safe harbor, however, is to give the offending party the 
opportunity, within 21 days after service of the motion for sanctions, to withdraw the 
offending pleading and thereby escape sanctions.”).  We therefore reject Mr. Justice’s 
reliance on Rose given that Rose did not involve Rule 11 and that extending Rose to the 
present case would nullify the twenty-one-day safe harbor provision of Rule 11.

We conclude that the Trial Court retained jurisdiction to adjudicate the outstanding 
Rule 11 motions for sanctions despite Mr. Justice’s voluntary dismissal.  In doing so, we 
recognize that Defendants have argued that Cooter & Gell, at least in part, is still good law.  
Defendants contend that the Cooter & Gell holding that a Rule 11 motion is collateral to 
the underlying suit and that a court accordingly retains jurisdiction to adjudicate such a 
motion even after dismissal is still valid to the extent the party seeking sanctions complies 
with the safe harbor provision. We note that there is support for Defendants’ contention.  
See Hyde v. Irish, 962 F.3d 1306, 1309 (11th Cir. 2020) (“The Supreme Court has told us 
that sanctions under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 are a ‘collateral’ issue and thus a 
court may decide a Rule 11 sanctions motion even if it lacks jurisdiction over the 
underlying case.”); Gulf Coast Bank v. Designed Conveyor Sys., LLC, No. CV 16-6644, 
2016 WL 3952092, at *1 (E.D. La. July 22, 2016) (“Although a voluntary dismissal divests 
the court of jurisdiction to decide the merits of the action, ‘[i]t is well established that a 
federal court may consider collateral issues after an action is no longer pending.’”) (quoting 
Cooter & Gell); VanDanacker v. Main Motor Sales Co., 109 F. Supp. 2d 1045, 1052 (D. 
Minn. 2000) (re-affirming Cooter & Gell’s holding that a Rule 11 motion is a collateral 
issue).  Our Supreme Court has recently cited Cooter & Gell favorably, holding:

                                           
4 We reject Mr. Justice’s suggestion that his amended complaint corrected his original complaint 
given that his amended complaint incorporated his original complaint.  In any event, Mr. Justice 
did not file his amended complaint until January 4, 2018, also outside the twenty-one-day safe 
harbor. 
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Even when a case is dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the 
court retains power to award attorney’s fees and costs.  [Barry v. State Bar 
of Cal., 386 P.3d 788, 793 (Cal. 2017) (quoting Rescue Army v. Mun. Ct., 
171 P.2d 8, 10-11 (Cal. 1946))]. As the United States Supreme Court has 
explained, requests for attorney’s fees are “collateral” and have “a distinct 
and independent character” from the underlying suit.  Sprague v. Ticonic 
Nat’l Bank, 307 U.S. 161, 169, 59 S.Ct. 777, 83 L.Ed. 1184 (1939) (footnote 
omitted) (citation omitted).  Courts should view a request for attorney’s fees 
as an “ ‘independent proceeding supplemental to the original proceeding and 
not a request for modification of the original decree.’ ”  Cooter & Gell v. 
Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 395, 110 S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 359 (1990) 
(quoting Sprague, 307 U.S. at 170, 59 S.Ct. 777)[.]

New v. Dumitrache, 604 S.W.3d 1, 20 (Tenn. 2020).5

At the same time, we recognize that this Court has explicitly held that a motion for 
discovery sanctions is not a collateral issue.  See Menche v. White Eagle Prop. Grp., LLC, 
No. W2018-01336-COA-R3-CV, 2019 WL 4016127, at *6 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 
2019).  In Menche, this Court soundly rejected the appellees’ contention that a motion for 
discovery sanctions was collateral to the underlying suit, stating:  “[N]o Tennessee rules or 
caselaw indicates that such a motion is collateral to the underlying merits of the case, in 
contrast to a motion for discretionary costs.”  Id.  Nevertheless, even in Menche, this Court 
concluded that the trial court had maintained jurisdiction to address the appellees’ motion 
for sanctions after the parties had agreed to a voluntary dismissal.  Id.  In so holding, the 
Menche Court concluded that the trial court’s order of dismissal was not final until it 
adjudicated the pending motion for sanctions.  Id. at *6, 9. (“Thus, in the typical case 
wherein the trial court enters judgment for one party, the judgment does not become final 
unless and until a pending motion for sanctions is adjudicated. . . . In the absence of 
disposition of the pending motion for sanctions . . . the trial court’s judgment was non-
final.”).  The Menche Court held that the trial court had jurisdiction to adjudicate the 
pending motion for sanctions even after voluntary dismissal, citing Tennessee Rule of 
Appellate Procedure 3(a), which provides that “any order that adjudicates fewer than all 
the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties is not enforceable or 
appealable and is subject to revision at any time before entry of a final judgment 
adjudicating all the claims, rights, and liabilities of all parties.”  Id. at *10.

We note that Cooter & Gell seemingly contradicts the Menche Court’s reiteration 
that a pre-judgment motion for sanctions or attorney’s fees is not “ancillary” or “collateral.”  

                                           
5 We recognize that New v. Dumitrache, 604 S.W.3d 1, 20 (Tenn. 2020) is not directly on point 
given that the case did not involve a Rule 11 motion for sanctions but rather involved a party’s 
request for attorney’s fees after a court determined that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction.
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Id. at *5.  We need not decide, however, whether an unadjudicated Rule 11 motion should 
be characterized as “collateral” to the underlying suit, or rather as an issue that renders an 
order non-final.  A resolution to that question is unnecessary for our analysis to the issue 
before us.  The Trial Court in the present case retained jurisdiction under either theory, 
whether we were to characterize the issue as collateral to the underlying merits or as 
necessary to render the dismissal order final.  

Mr. Justice next argues that his original complaint was superseded by his amended 
complaint.  Mr. Justice accordingly argues that the Trial Court erred by granting 
Defendants’ Rule 11 motions given that they were filed only in response to the original 
complaint.  Upon our review of the record, we find Mr. Justice’s argument unconvincing.  
We first note that Mr. Justice filed the amended complaint outside the twenty-one-day safe 
harbor provided for him to make any correction to his original complaint to avoid sanctions.  
Furthermore, Mr. Justice incorporated his original complaint into his amended complaint 
“fully, except to the extent it [was] inconsistent” with the amended complaint. On appeal, 
Mr. Justice attempts to rely on the limiting language “to the extent it [was] inconsistent” to 
suggest the amended complaint corrected the issues in the original complaint.  However,
Mr. Justice has not explained on appeal how his amended complaint corrected, changed, 
or altered the original complaint.  Based upon our review of the amended complaint, it 
appears Mr. Justice merely added allegations to the original complaint.  Therefore, the Rule
11 violation never was corrected to the extent that the amended complaint restated the same 
allegations in the original.  We therefore reject this argument as well. 

B.  Rule 11 Sanctions

Having concluded that the Trial Court had jurisdiction to adjudicate Defendants’ 
Rule 11 motions, we now address Mr. Justice’s arguments that the Trial Court erred by 
granting these motions.  Mr. Justice presents several arguments, contending that 
Defendants’ Rule 11 motions were too vague, that Tennessee Rule of Evidence 408 did not 
preclude Mr. Justice’s claims, that monetary sanctions should not have been awarded 
against him for a violation of Rule 11.02(2) given that he was a represented party, that the 
Trial Court’s order imposed requirements on Mr. Justice not recognized by law, that the 
Trial Court granted the Rule 11 motions out of animosity it harbored against Mr. Justice, 
and that Defendants never moved for Rule 11 sanctions in federal court in response to Mr. 
Justice’s same claims.  Upon our careful review, we conclude that Mr. Justice’s arguments 
are unavailing and that the Trial Court did not err by granting Defendants’ Rule 11 motions. 

This Court has previously explained the standard of review and applicable principles 
as follows:

We review a trial court’s ruling on a Rule 11 motion under an abuse of 
discretion standard. Hooker v. Sundquist, 107 S.W.3d 532, 535 (Tenn. Ct.
App. 2002). An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the lower 
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court has no basis in law or fact and is therefore arbitrary, illogical, or 
unconscionable. Id. (citing State v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 18 
S.W.3d 186, 191 (Tenn. 2000)). Our review of Rule 11 decisions is governed 
under this deferential standard since the question of whether a Rule 11 
violation has occurred requires the trial court to make highly fact-intensive 
determinations regarding the reasonableness of the attorney’s conduct. Id.
We review the trial court’s findings of fact with a presumption of correctness.
Id.; Tenn. R. App. P. 13(d).

* * *

The Tennessee Supreme Court has noted that the main objective of 
Rule 11 is to deter attorneys from violating Rule 11.02. Its main purpose is 
to deter “abuse in the litigation process.” Andrews v. Bible, 812 S.W.2d 284, 
292 (Tenn. 1991). The supreme court has characterized Rule 11 as a “potent 
weapon that can and should be used to curb litigation abuses.” Id. At the 
same time, however, the supreme court has advised the trial courts to impose 
Rule 11 sanctions only with “utmost care.” Id.

The courts are to apply a standard of “objective reasonableness under 
the circumstances” when determining whether conduct is sanctionable under 
Rule 11. Hooker v. Sundquist, 107 S.W.3d at 536 (citing Andrews, 812 
S.W.2d at 288). “Sanctions are appropriate when an attorney submits a 
motion or other paper on grounds which he knows or should know are 
without merit, and a showing of subjective bad faith is not required.” Id.
(quoting Boyd v. Prime Focus, Inc., 83 S.W.3d 761, 765 (Tenn. Ct. App.
2001)). However, when deciding whether to impose sanctions under Rule 
11, the trial court should consider all the circumstances. Id. “[T]he trial
judge should consider not only the circumstances of the particular violation, 
but also the factors bearing on the reasonableness of the conduct, such as 
experience and past performance of the attorney, as well as the general 
standards of conduct of the bar of the court.” Andrews, 812 S.W.2d at 292 
n. 4.

Brown v. Shappley, 290 S.W.3d 197, 200, 202-03 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2008).

Mr. Justice first argues that the Trial Court should not have granted Defendant’s 
Rule 11 motions because they were “too vague.”  Rule 11.03(1)(a) provides that a motion 
for sanctions under Rule 11 “shall describe the specific conduct alleged to violate 
subdivision 11.02.”  Tenn. R. Civ. P. 11.03(1)(a).  Mr. Justice specifically contends that 
the “motions made no effort to describe why Rule 408 cannot be waived, why it is frivolous 
to contend Rule 408 is inapplicable”, and failed to address his “cited authority.”  Under 
this umbrella of vagueness, Mr. Justice also argues that “some” of the motions were not 
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filed separately as required by Rule 11.03(1)(a).  The record simply does not support Mr. 
Justice’s assertions.  

Valone Defendants, Meares Defendants, and Ms. Nelson each filed Rule 11 motions 
separately from any other filing or request.  We accordingly find no merit in Mr. Justice’s 
claim that this requirement of the rule was not followed.  We also fail to discern how 
Defendants’ motions were too vague.  Each Rule 11 motion identified specific allegations 
in Mr. Justice’s complaint that had no basis in law or fact.  See Schutt v. Miller, No. W2010-
02313-COA-R3-CV, 2012 WL 4497813, at *15 (Tenn. Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2012)
(determining that the husband’s Rule 11 motion “asserted specifically” that the wife “had 
no evidentiary support for the factual allegations in her motion to set aside provisions of 
the MDA” and rejecting the wife’s argument that the husband had failed to “state what 
specific conduct” the wife engaged in to support his Rule 11 motion).  Mr. Justice has not 
cited to any case that would support his contention.  We therefore conclude that 
Defendant’s Rule 11 motions were sufficiently separate and specific.

Mr. Justice also argues that the Trial Court erred by awarding monetary sanctions 
against him pursuant to Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 11.02(2).  Rule 11.02 provides:  

By presenting to the court (whether by signing, filing, submitting, or later 
advocating) a pleading, written motion, or other paper, an attorney or 
unrepresented party is certifying that to the best of the person’s knowledge, 
information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the 
circumstances,--

(1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to 
cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation;

(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions therein are warranted by 
existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for the extension, modification, 
or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law;

(3) the allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, 
if specifically so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a 
reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery[.]

Mr. Justice contends that the Trial Court erred by awarding Defendants sanctions pursuant 
to this subsection in violation of Rule 11.03(2)(a), which provides that “[m]onetary 
sanctions may not be awarded against a represented party for a violation of subdivision 
11.02(2).”  

Mr. Justice argues:  “The order solely sanctions Appellant (a represented party) and 
the order identifies, as the only cited legal ground, Rule 11.02(2).”  Again, the record does 
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not support Mr. Justice’s assertions.  The 2019 Order clearly reflects the Trial Court’s 
decision to sanction Mr. Justice for violating subsections 11.02(1) and (3), in addition to 
subsection (2).  The Trial Court specifically found that Mr. Justice had asserted allegations 
and “factual contentions that did not have evidentiary support [pursuant to Rule 11.02(3)] 
and were presented for the improper purposes of harassment and needless increase in cost 
in the litigation [pursuant to Rule 11.02(1)].”  Furthermore, Mr. Justice’s argument that he 
was a “represented party” is specious.  Although he claims that he was represented by his 
law partner, Mr. Rickman, Mr. Justice signed the amended complaint and his motion to 
alter or amend the Trial Court’s order granting motions for sanctions as if he were
representing himself.  For all intents and purposes, Mr. Justice was representing himself, 
and we find his claim otherwise to stretch credulity.6

Upon reviewing the substance of the Trial Court’s 2019 Order, we conclude that the 
Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in granting the Rule 11 motions.  In its 2019 Order, 
the Trial Court made extensive findings of fact, including findings related to the 
circumstances at the time Mr. Justice signed the original complaint.  See Andrews v. Bible, 
812 S.W.2d 284, 288 (Tenn. 1991) (“The test to be applied in deciding whether an 
attorney’s conduct is sanctionable, is one of objective reasonableness under all the 
circumstances, and the reasonableness of the attorney’s belief must be assessed in light of 
the circumstances existing at the time the document in question was signed.”) (internal 
citations omitted).  The Trial Court considered that Mr. Justice was an experienced trial 
attorney, that the underlying case had been “extremely adversarial as evidenced by the 
rulings of the” Juvenile Court, that the conduct complained of in the complaint and 
amended complaint arose out of the underlying case, and that “many of the issues raised in 
the underlying litigation [were] the same or similar issues raised in the present case.”

In rendering its decision, the Trial Court cited many of the Juvenile Court’s findings 
in the underlying case, including that Mr. Justice had “intentionally manipulated the 
litigation in an attempt to ‘financially ruin’ Ms. Nelson”, that it had “never accepted Mr. 

                                           
6 We recognize that Mr. Justice also argues that the Trial Court denied him a reasonable 
opportunity to respond to the Rule 11 motions, pursuant to Rule 11.03, which provides that the 
court may impose an appropriate sanction upon an attorney if he has been given “notice and a 
reasonable opportunity to respond.”  Mr. Justice complains that the Trial Court never held a 
hearing on the motions.  However, Mr. Justice had ample opportunity to, and did, file a written 
response to the Rule 11 motions.  Moreover, the day before the schedule hearing, Mr. Justice 
requested that the Trial Court allow his counsel permission to participate at the Rule 11 hearing by 
telephone, or alternatively to continue the hearing, or alternatively to grant Mr. Justice’s request 
to waive oral argument.  The Trial Court accordingly chose to make its ruling based upon the 
filings without a hearing, one of the options requested by Mr. Justice.  In its order addressing Mr. 
Justice’s motion, the Trial Court noted that, despite that the Rule 11 motions had been pending for 
more than nine months, Mr. Justice did not file his response until “less than 25 hours prior to the 
schedule hearing.”  We therefore conclude that Mr. Justice had a reasonable opportunity to respond 
to Defendants’ motions. 
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Justice’s repeated allegations of hostage negotiation”, that the “settlement discussions
between the parties [were] inadmissible”, that there was “simply no evidence of human 
trafficking no matter how many times Mr. Justice raise[d] the allegation”, and that these 
issues could be addressed on appeal.  Despite these findings, and the fact that he had 
appealed the Juvenile Court’s decision, Mr. Justice filed a complaint alleging the same 
allegations in the Trial Court.  The Trial Court found that Mr. Justice was “clearly aware
of the specific language in the Order in the underlying litigation where [the trial judge] 
discussed ‘repeated allegations of hostage negotiation’ and his previous rulings on the 
inadmissibility of settlement negotiations.”

The Trial Court further explained:

Based upon the standard of “objective reasonableness” set forth in 
Ewan v. Hardison Law Firm, et al., 465 S.W.3d 124 (Tenn. App. 2014), this 
Court finds that [Mr. Justice] submitted pleadings to this Court on grounds 
that he knew or should know were without merit. Mr. Justice alleged that 
the Defendants were liable of “selling a child”, extortion, coercion and 
blackmail, hostage negotiation and human trafficking. Each of these highly 
inflammatory charges is based upon discussions and offers made during 
settlement negotiation. As an attorney, Mr. Justice is charged with 
knowledge of the Tennessee Rules of Evidence and associated case law.

Mr. Justice was also aware that the judge in the underlying litigation 
at issue had ruled that the information involved in the settlement discussions 
were inadmissible and the trial judge in Roane County refused to accept as 
credible any allegation of human trafficking by [Ms. Nelson]. Mr. Justice
was also aware that the trial judge made a specific award of attorneys’ fees 
to [Ms. Nelson] and found the fees to be reasonable. The issue of the 
settlement negotiations and attorneys’ fees were the subject of [Mr. Justice]’s
appeal of the judgment of the trial judge in the Roane County litigation.

Since these issues had been litigated in the underlying Roane County 
litigation and findings had been issued, [Mr. Justice]’s avenue of redress was 
to seek an appeal, not to file a separate action. [Mr. Justice] chose to do both 
and ultimately the Court of Appeals upheld the trial judge on the very rulings 
upon which [Mr. Justice] asserts liability against the Defendants in this case.

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court finds that [Mr. Justice] filed 
a pleading (the Complaint, as incorporated in the Amended Complaint) that 
contained allegations and other factual contentions that did not have 
evidentiary support and were presented for the improper purposes of 
harassment and needless increase in cost in the litigation. The filing of the 
pleading is a certification that the pleading is filed to the best of the person’s 
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knowledge, information and belief, formed after reasonable inquiry. This 
Court finds that such a certification could not be made in this case based upon 
rules of evidence and the prior rulings of the trial judge in the underlying 
litigation regarding the same facts alleged as a basis of liability in this case.

(Internal footnote omitted.)  In sum, the Trial Court found that Mr. Justice had filed 
essentially the same allegations that had already been found by the Juvenile Court to be 
neither credible nor legally viable.  The Trial Court correctly found Mr. Justice’s complaint 
to be improper given that the proper avenue to challenge the Juvenile Court’s findings was 
an appeal—not the re-filing of his allegations in a different court.

On appeal, Mr. Justice argues that Tennessee Rule of Evidence 408, one basis 
provided by the Juvenile Court to preclude Mr. Justice’s evidence of extortion, did not 
preclude his claims as protected settlement negotiations.  However, even if Mr. Justice
were correct, the proper avenue to make such an argument would be an appeal of the 
Juvenile Court, not the re-filing and rearguing of this issue in a different trial court.  We 
find his reliance on this argument on appeal to be unavailing, particularly given that this 
Court has already rejected his Rule 408 argument on appeal of the Juvenile Court’s order.  
By the time of the present appeal, three different courts had rejected Mr. Justice’s 
argument.  Furthermore, notwithstanding the issue of Rule 408, the Juvenile Court found 
no evidence to support allegations that Mr. Justice later went on to raise in the Trial Court.  
We conclude that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Mr. Justice
violated Rule 11 and granting Defendants’ motions for sanctions.  

We further conclude that the Trial Court provided sufficient explanation for its 
reasoning behind the amount and nature of the sanction imposed.  The 2019 Order belies 
Mr. Justice’s assertion that the Trial Court failed to adequately explain why it chose the 
amount and nature of the sanctions imposed.  The Trial Court explained that it was aware 
that Defendants’ request for attorney’s fees was “substantial” but found them justified 
given the length of Mr. Justice’s complaint as well as his litigation tactics.  The Trial Court 
provided the following example:

[T]he delay caused by the “tactic” of causing the attorneys to prepare for a 
hearing while apparently intending to file an amended complaint which [Mr. 
Justice] alleged could potentially cure the issues in the motion to dismiss.
The Amended Complaint did not cure the issues but instead, restated the 
same issues, and then after causing the defendants to respond to the 
supplemental filing, [Mr. Justice] chose to take a nonsuit.

The Trial Court, in sum, explained that it had found that “the sanction of an award of all 
reasonable attorney’s fees is appropriate and sufficient to deter repetition of such conduct 
or comparable conduct by others similarly situated.”  We therefore find no merit in Mr. 
Justice’s argument the Trial Court did not sufficiently explain its reasoning.  
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C.  Denial of Discovery

We next address Mr. Justice’s contention that the Trial Court erred by denying his 
request for the Court to hold the Rule 11 motions in abeyance to afford him an opportunity 
to conduct discovery with respect to Defendants’ affidavits supporting their request for 
attorney’s fees.  We review a trial court’s resolution of a discovery request under the abuse 
of discretion standard.  See Johnson v. Nissan N. Am., Inc., 146 S.W.3d 600, 604 (Tenn. 
Ct. App. 2004) (“Discovery disputes address themselves to a trial court’s discretion[.]”

Mr. Justice argues that a party “opposing a sanctions award must have legitimate 
opportunity to dispute both the propriety of sanctions and the amount of sanctions.”  Mr. 
Justice claims that he was not provided such an opportunity to oppose the amount of 
attorney’s fees requested by Defendants because he did not have an opportunity to conduct 
discovery.  Mr. Justice does not cite to any law or case in support of his argument.  Mr. 
Justice waived oral argument and requested, albeit in the alternative, that the Trial Court 
decide the Rule 11 motions on the filings.  He made this request the day before the 
scheduled hearing on September 7, 2018.  In addition, Mr. Justice filed multiple responses 
to Defendants’ Rule 11 motions prior to the Trial Court’s 2022 Order.  As the Trial Court 
noted in the 2019 Order, Mr. Justice never “caused any affidavit to be filed indicating that 
the rates charged were outside the realm of reason nor has he caused any affidavit to be 
filed in which he has challenged any individual time entry as being unreasonable or 
unnecessary.” We therefore cannot conclude that Mr. Justice did not have the opportunity 
to challenge the motions and affidavits.  Given the Trial Court’s finding that Mr. Justice
filed his complaint for the improper purpose of harassment and increased litigation costs 
for Defendants, as well as the Juvenile Court’s finding that Mr. Justice had manipulated 
litigation to ruin Ms. Nelson financially, we cannot conclude that the Trial Court abused 
its discretion by denying Mr. Justice’s request for an abeyance to conduct discovery. 

Mr. Justice further argues that he did not receive Defendants’ affidavits of attorney’s 
fees until fourteen days prior to the hearing on the motions.  Mr. Justice claims that these 
affidavits were vague and exorbitant.  To the extent Mr. Justice challenges the substance 
of these affidavits, we determine that Mr. Justice has waived such a challenge by failing to 
cite to the affidavits in the record.  This may be due to the fact that they are not included in 
the record.  This Court has previously instructed appealing parties as follows:

It is well-settled that it is the appellant’s duty to prepare a record for our 
review that includes everything contained in the trial court record that is 
necessary for our examination of the issues presented on appeal.  To the 
extent that the absence of a full record precludes this Court from reviewing 
the appellant’s issues, the trial court’s ruling is presumed to be correct.
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McAllister v. Rash, No. E2014-01283-COA-R3-CV, 2015 WL 3533679, at *8 (Tenn. Ct. 
App. June 5, 2015) (internal citation omitted).  We have held before that “‘[j]udges are not 
like pigs, hunting for truffles’ that may be buried in the record, or, for that matter, in the 
parties’ briefs on appeal.”  Nunley v. Farrar, No. M2020-00519-COA-R3-CV, 2021 WL 
1811750, at *6 (Tenn. Ct. App. May 6, 2021) (quoting Cartwright v. Jackson Cap. 
Partners, Ltd. P’ship., 478 S.W.3d 596, 616 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2015)).  We therefore do not 
find reversible error in the amount of the attorney’s fees awarded to Defendants given Mr. 
Justice’s failure to fully develop his argument on appeal, failure to cite to or include the 
affidavits in the record, and to present to the Trial Court any evidence to counter the 
affidavits filed by Defendants.

Although Mr. Justice raised as a separate issue whether his right to due process had 
been violated, we agree with Defendants that he has waived this issue by failing to 
adequately argue the issue in his brief.  Tennessee Rule of Appellate Procedure 27(a)(7) 
provides:

(a) Brief of the Appellant. The brief of the appellant shall contain under 
appropriate headings and in the order here indicated:

* * *

(7) An argument, which may be preceded by a summary of argument, setting 
forth:

(A) the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and 
the reasons therefor, including the reasons why the contentions require 
appellate relief, with citations to the authorities and appropriate references to 
the record (which may be quoted verbatim) relied on[.]

Mr. Justice’s due process argument amounts to a single assertion: “Appellees made no 
effort to advocate for a precise amount of sanctions within such narrow limits and 
Appellant had no due process opportunity to dispute Appellees’ self-serving affidavits.”  
Mr. Justice does not develop this argument and has therefore waived it.

Further, the Trial Court sufficiently explained in its 2019 Order its reasoning for 
granting the attorney’s fees requested by Defendants, stating:

[Mr. Justice] has not caused any affidavit to be filed indicating that the rates 
charged were outside the realm of reason nor has he caused any affidavit to 
be filed in which he has challenged any individual time entry as being 
unreasonable or unnecessary. The Court has reviewed the affidavits that 
were submitted by counsel and reviewed the detailed time records and finds 
that the requested fees were reasonable and necessary under the 
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circumstances of the case. The Court further finds that . . . the sanction of an 
award of all reasonable attorney’s fees is appropriate and sufficient to deter 
repetition of such conduct or comparable conduct by others similarly 
situated. Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 11.03(2).

We discern no reversible error in the Trial Court’s reasoning or decision to grant the 
attorney’s fees as supported by Defendants’ affidavits. 

Conclusion

The Trial Court’s final judgment granting Defendants’ motions for sanctions 
pursuant to Rule 11 is affirmed, and this cause is remanded to the Trial Court for the 
collection of costs below.  Costs on appeal are taxed to the appellant, Loring E. Justice, 
and his surety, if any.

_________________________________
D. MICHAEL SWINEY, CHIEF JUDGE


